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IN THE MATTER OF

TRIAAC ENTERPRISES, INC.

CONSENT ORDER, ETC., INREGARD TO ALLEGED VIOLATION OF
THE TRUTH IN LENDING ACT AND SEC. 5 OF THE
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT

Docket C-3602. Complaint, Aug. 11, 1995--Decision, Aug. 11, 1995

This consent order requires, among other things, a video dating service franchise
to properly and accurately disclose the annual percentage rate ("APR") and
other credit terms of financed memberships, as required by the federal Truth
in Lending Act, and requires the franchise to establish adjustment refund
programs to compensate its past and current members who overpaid finance
charges.

Appearances

For the Commission: Stephen Cohen and Judy Nixon.
For the respondent: Pro se.

COMPLAINT

The Federal Trade Commission, having reason to believe that
Great Expectations Creative Management, Inc. has violated the
Federal Trade Commission Act ("FTC Act"), and that Great
Expectations, Inc., GEC Illinois, Inc., GEC Tennessee, Inc., GEC
Alabama, Inc., Great Southern Video, Inc., New West Video
Enterprises, Inc., San Antonio Singles of Texas, Inc., Austin Singles
of Texas, Inc., Great Expectations of Baltimore, Inc., Great
Expectations of Washington, D.C., Inc., Great Expectations of
Washington, Inc., Sterling Connections, Inc., Private Eye
Productions, Inc., Great Expectations - Columbus, Inc., JAMS
. Financial, Inc., V.L.P. Enterprises, Inc., APM Enterprises - Minn
Inc., KGE, Inc., G.E.C.H., Inc., MWVE, Inc., GREATEX Denver,
Inc., Sun West Video, Inc., and TRIAAC Enterprises, Inc.
(hereinafter sometimes referred to collectively as "Great
Expectations") have violated the Truth in Lending Act ("TILA"), its
implementing Regulation Z, and the FTC Act, and it appearing to the
Commission that a proceeding by it in respect thereof would be in the
public interest, hereby issues this complaint, and alleges as follows:
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PARAGRAPH 1. Great Expectations Creative Management, Inc.
("GECM") is a corporation organized, existing, and doing business
under and by virtue of the laws of the state of California, with its
office and principal place of business located at 16830 Ventura Blvd.,
Suite P, Encino, CA.

PAR. 2. Great Expectations, Inc. ("GEI") is a corporation
organized, existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the
laws of the state of California, with its corporate office at 16830
Ventura Blvd., Suite P, Encino, CA, and its principal places of
business located at 1640 S. Sepulveda Blvd., Suite 100, Los Angeles,
CA, 17207 Ventura Blvd., Encino, CA, and 450 N. Mountain, Suite
B, Upland, CA.

PAR. 3. GEC Illinois, Inc. ("GE Illinois") is a corporation
organized, existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the
laws of the state of Illinois, with its office and principal place of
business located at 1701 E. Woodfield Dr., Suite 400, Schaumburg,
IL.

PAR. 4. GEC Tennessee, Inc. ("GE Tennessee") is a corporation
organized, existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the
laws of the state of California, with its office and principal place of
business located at 5552 Franklin Rd., Suite 200, Nashville, TN.

PAR. 5. GEC Alabama, Inc. ("GE Alabama") is a corporation
organized, existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the
laws of the state of Alabama, with its office and principal place of
business located at 7529 S. Memorial Pkwy., Suite C & D,
Huntsville, AL.

PAR. 6. Great Southern Video, Inc., doing business as Great
Expectations of Dallas ("GE Dallas"), is a corporation organized,
existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
state of Texas, with its office and principal place of business located
at 14180 Dallas Pkwy., Suite 100, Dallas, TX.

PAR. 7. New West Video Enterprises, Inc., doing business as
Great Expectations of Houston ("GE Houston"), is a corporation
organized, existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the
laws of the state of Texas, with its office and principal place of
business located at 50 Briarhollow, Suite 100, Houston, TX.

PAR. 8. San Antonio Singles of Texas, Inc., doing business as
Great Expectations of San Antonio ("GE San Antonio"), is a
corporation organized, existing, and doing business under and by
virtue of the laws of the state of Texas, with its corporate office at
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10497 Town & Country Way, Suite 214, Houston, TX, and its
principal place of business located at 8131 I.H. 10 West, Suite 225,
San Antonio, TX.

PAR. 9. Austin Singles of Texas, Inc., doing business as Great
Expectations of Austin ("GE Austin"), is a corporation organized,
existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
state of Texas, with its corporate office at 10497 Town & Country
Way, Suite 214, Houston, TX, and its principal place of business
located at 9037 Research Blvd., Suite 130, Austin, TX.

PAR. 10. Great Expectations of Baltimore, Inc. ("GE Baltimore")
is a corporation organized, existing, and doing business under and by
virtue of the laws of the state of Virginia, with its office and principal
place of business located at 40 York Rd., Suite 500, Towson, MD.

PAR. 11. Great Expectations of Washington, D.C., Inc. ("GE
DC") is a corporation organized, existing, and doing business under
and by virtue of the laws of the state of Maryland, with its office and
principal place of business located at 8601 Westwood Center Dr.,
Vienna, VA.

PAR. 12. Great Expectations of Washington, Inc., doing business
as Great Expectations of Raleigh/Durham ("GE Raleigh"), is a
corporation organized, existing, and doing business under and by
virtue of the laws of the state of Maryland, with its office and
principal place of business located at 3714 Benson Dr., Suite 200,
Raleigh, NC.

PAR. 13. Sterling Connections, Inc., doing business as Great
Expectations of Seattle ("GE Seattle"), is a corporation organized,
existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
state of Oregon, with its office and principal place of business located
at 305 108th Ave., N.E., Suite 205, Bellevue, WA.

PAR. 14. Private Eye Productions, Inc., doing business as Great
Expectations of Portland ("GE Portland"), is a corporation organized,
existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
state of Oregon, with its office and principal place of business located
at 5531 S.W. Macadam Ave., Suite 225, Portland, OR.

PAR. 15. Great Expectations - Columbus, Inc. ("GE Columbus")
is a corporation organized, existing, and doing business under and by
virtue of the laws of the state of Ohio, with its corporate office at
11835 W. Olympic Blvd., Suite 490, Los Angeles, CA, and its
principal place of business located at 1103 Schrock Rd., Suite 101,
Columbus, OH.
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PAR. 16. JAMS Financial, Inc., doing business as Great
Expectations of Milwaukee ("GE Milwaukee"), is a corporation
organized, existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the
laws of the state of Wisconsin, with its corporate office at 11835 W.
Olympic Blvd., Suite 490, Los Angeles, CA, and its principal place
of business located at 16650 W. Bluemound, Suite 100, Brookfield,
WL

PAR. 17. V.L.P. Enterprises, Inc., doing business as Great
Expectations of San Diego ("GE San Diego"), is a corporation
organized, existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the
laws of the state of California, with its office and principal place of
business located at 3465 Camino Del Rio South, Suite 300, San
Diego, CA.

PAR. 18. APM Enterprises - Minn Inc., doing business as Great
Expectations of Minneapolis ("GE Minneapolis"), is a corporation
organized, existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the
laws of the state of Illinois, with its office and principal place of
business located at 3300 Edinborough Way, Suite 300, Edina, MN.

PAR. 19. KGE, Inc., doing business as Great Expectations of
Sausalito, Great Expectations of Mountain View, and Great
Expectations of Walnut Creek (collectively referred to as "GE-SFA"),
is a corporation organized, existing, and doing business under and by
virtue of the laws of the state of California, with its corporate office
at 1943 Landings Dr., Mountain View, CA, and its principal places
of business located at 2401 Marinship Way, Suite 100, Sausalito, CA,
2085 Landings Dr., Mountain View, CA, and 1280 Civic Dr., Suite
300, Walnut Creek, CA.

PAR. 20. G.E.C.H,, Inc., doing business as Great Expectations
of Cherry Hill ("GE Cherry Hill"), is a corporation organized,
existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
state of New Jersey with its office and principal places of business
located at One Cherry Hill, Suite 600, Cherry Hill, NJ.

PAR. 21. MWVE, Inc., doing business as Great Expectations of
Cleveland ("GE Cleveland"), is a corporation organized, existing, and
doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the state of Ohio,
with its office and principal place of business located at 6300
Rockside Rd., Suite 200, Cleveland, OH.

PAR. 22. GREATEX Denver, Inc., doing business as Great
Expectations Video Dating, Ltd. ("GE-Denver"), is a corporation
organized, existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the
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laws of the state of Washington, with its office and principal place of
business located at 3773 Cherry Creek North Dr., Suite 140, Denver,
CO.

PAR. 23. Sun West Video, Inc., doing business as Great
Expectations for Singles ("GE Phoenix"), is a corporation organized,
existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
state of Arizona, with its office and principal place of business
located at 5635 N. Scottsdale Rd., Suite 190, Scottsdale, AZ.

PAR. 24. TRIAAC Enterprises, Inc., doing business as Great
Expectations of Sacramento ("GE Sacramento"), is a corporation
organized, existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the
laws of the state of California, with its office and principal place of
business located at 2277 Fair Oaks Blvd., Suite 195, Sacramento, CA.

RESPONDENTS' COURSE OF BUSINESS

PAR. 25. GECM is a video dating franchisor. It sells and services
franchise operations throughout the United States. As part of its
regular course of business, GECM has created and disseminated retail
installment contracts (Exhibits 1 and 2) to the franchises described in
paragraphs two through twenty-four. The GECM retail installment
contracts purport to incorporate the disclosures required by the TILA.

PAR. 26. Respondents Great Expectations are video dating
franchises. Respondents have provided financing to their members
using retail installment contracts such as Exhibits 1 and 2 to disclose
the terms of the financing.

PAR. 27. GECM's TILA disclosure (Exhibit 1) contains
erroneous instructions for calculating and disclosing the finance
charge and contains a pre-printed annual percentage rate ("APR") of
18%. In addition, Exhibit 1 fails to make the TILA disclosures in the
format required by the TILA and fails to identify the creditor as
required by the TILA.

PAR. 28. In 1988, GECM learned from its auditor that the
calculations and disclosures contained in Exhibit 1 did not comply
with the TILA. Nevertheless, it continued to disseminate Exhibit 1
to its franchisees and failed to notify them of the erroneous
calculations and disclosures.

PAR. 29. In late 1990, GECM created a new retail installment
contract, which also purported to incorporate the disclosures required
by the TILA and which contained a pre-printed APR of 19.6%
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(Exhibit 2). Exhibit 2 fails to identify the creditor as required by the
TILA and fails to provide the information required by the TILA in
the itemization of the amount financed. Furthermore, GECM has
disseminated Exhibit 2 to its franchisees but has failed to inform them
to discontinue using the erroneous calculation and disclosure
instructions that it had previously supplied in Exhibit 1.

PAR. 30. Respondents Great Expectations are creditors as that
term is defined in the TILA and Regulation Z.

PAR. 31. The acts and practices of respondents Great
Expectations and GECM alleged in this complaint have been and are
in or affecting commerce, as "commerce” is defined in Section 4 of
the FTC Act.

COUNT 1

PAR. 32. Paragraphs one through thirty-one are incorporated
herein by reference.

PAR. 33. Respondent GECM has furnished its franchises with
TILA disclosures (Exhibits 1 and 2) that, on their face, violated the
TILA. When used by respondents Great Expectations, Exhibits 1 and
2 have resulted in false and misleading disclosures of APRs and
finance charges to consumers in violation of Section 5 of the FTC
Act.

PAR. 34. In the course and practice of its business as described
in paragraphs twenty-five through twenty-nine, and paragraph thirty-
three, respondent GECM has provided respondents Great
Expectations with the means and instrumentalities to violate the
Section 5 of the FTC Act.

PAR. 35. The practices described in paragraph thirty-four
constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section
5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. 45(a).

COUNT 1I

PAR. 36. Paragraphs one through thirty-one are incorporated
herein by reference.

PAR. 37. Respondents GEI, GE Illinois, GE Tennessee, GE
Alabama, GE Dallas, GE Houston, GE San Antonio, GE Austin, GE
Baltimore, GE DC, GE Raleigh, GE Seattle, GE Portland, GE
Columbus, GE Milwaukee, GE San Diego, GE Minneapolis, GE-



TRIAAC ENTERPRISES, INC. 417
411 Complaint

SFA, GE Cherry Hill, GE Cleveland, GE Denver, GE Phoenix, and
GE Sacramento have furnished their members with TILA disclosures
that have failed to accurately calculate and disclose the APR.

PAR. 38. The practice described in paragraph thirty-seven by
respondents GEI, GE Illinois, GE Tennessee, GE Alabama, GE
Dallas, GE Houston, GE San Antonio, GE Austin, GE Baltimore, GE
DC, GE Raleigh, GE Seattle, GE Portland, GE Columbus, GE
Milwaukee, GE San Diego, GE Minneapolis, GE-SFA, GE Cherry
Hill, GE Cleveland, GE Denver, GE Phoenix, and GE Sacramento
violates Sections 107(a) and (c) of the TILA, 15 U.S.C. 1606(a) and
(c), and Sections 226.18(e) and 226.22 of Regulation Z, 12 CFR
226.18(e) and 226.22.

COUNT III

PAR. 39. Paragraphs one through thirty-one are incorporated
herein by reference.

PAR. 40. Respondents GE Dallas, GE Houston, GE San Antonio,
GE Austin, GE Baltimore, GE DC, GE Raleigh, GE Columbus, GE
Milwaukee, GE-SFA, GE Cleveland, GE Phoenix, GE Sacramento,
and GE San Diego have furnished their members with TILA
disclosures that have failed to accurately calculate and disclose the
finance charge.

PAR. 41. The practice described in paragraph forty by
respondents GE Dallas, GE Houston, GE San Antonio, GE Austin,
GE Baltimore, GE DC, GE Raleigh, GE Columbus, GE Milwaukee,
GE-SFA, GE Cleveland, GE Phoenix, GE Sacramento, and GE San
Diego violates Section 106 of the TILA, 15 U.S.C. 1605, and
Sections 226.4 and 226.18(d) of Regulation Z, 12 CFR 226.4 and
226.18(d)

COUNT 1V

PAR. 42. Paragraphs one through thirty-one are incorporated
herein by reference.

PAR. 43. Respondents GE Dallas, GE Houston, GE Seattle, GE
Portland, GE Minneapolis, GE Cleveland, GE Denver, and GE
Phoenix have furnished their members with TILA disclosures that
have failed to disclose the finance charge more conspicuously than
any other disclosure except the APR and the creditor's identity.
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PAR. 44. The practice described in paragraph forty-three by
respondents GE Dallas, GE Houston, GE Seattle, GE Portland, GE
Minneapolis, GE Cleveland, GE Denver, and GE Phoenix violates
Section 122(a) of the TILA, 15 U.S.C. 1632(a), and Section
226.17(a)(2) of Regulation Z, 12 CFR 226.17(a)(2).

COUNT V

PAR. 45. Paragraphs one through thirty-one are incorporated
herein by reference.

PAR. 46. Respondents GE Dallas, GE Houston, GE San Antonio,
GE Austin, GE Baltimore, GE DC, GE Raleigh, GE Seattle, GE
Portland, GE Minneapolis, GE Cleveland, GE Denver, GE Phoenix,
and GE Sacramento have furnished their members with TILA
disclosures that have failed to segregate the disclosures required by
the TILA from all other information provided in connection with the
transaction, including the itemization of the amount financed.

PAR. 47. The practice described in paragraph forty-six by
respondents GE Dallas, GE Houston, GE San Antonio, GE Austin,
GE Baltimore, GE DC, GE Raleigh, GE Seattle, GE Portland, GE
Minneapolis, GE Cleveland, GE Denver, GE Phoenix, and GE
Sacramento violates Section 128(b)(1) of the TILA, 15 U.S.C.
1638(b)(1), and Section 226.17(a)(1) of Regulation Z, 12 CFR
226.17(a)(1).

COUNT VI

PAR. 48. Paragraphs one through thirty-one are incorporated
herein by reference.

PAR. 49. Respondents GEI, GE Illinois, GE Tennessee, GE
Alabama, GE Dallas, GE Houston, GE San Antonio, GE Austin, GE
Baltimore, GE DC, GE Raleigh, GE Seattle, GE Portland, GE
Columbus, GE San Diego, GE Minneapolis, GE-SFA, GE Cherry
Hill, GE Cleveland, GE Denver, GE Phoenix, and GE Sacramento
have failed to accurately disclose the itemization of the amount
financed.

PAR. 50. The practice described in paragraph forty-nine by
respondents GEl, GE Illinois, GE Tennessee, GE Alabama, GE
Dallas, GE Houston, GE San Antonio, GE Austin, GE Baltimore, GE
DC, GE Raleigh, GE Seattle, GE Portland, GE Columbus, GE San






